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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This case involves a set of appeals after the final judgment from the District Court for the 

District of New Union. (R. at 1,3). The case arose under the Clean Water Act (CWA), § 505, 33 

U.S.C. § 1365, which the district court has proper subject matter jurisdiction over given that 

federal district courts have original jurisdiction over civil actions arising under the laws of the 

United States. 28 U.S.C. § 1331. The United States Court of Appeals for the Twelfth Circuit has 

proper jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1291, which gives appellate courts jurisdiction over 

any appeal from a final decision from a United States district court. 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

I. Whether New Union Wildlife Federation (NUWF) has standing under Article III of 

The Constitution when the organization’s members have viewed a change in the 

Muddy River’s (hereinafter “the Muddy”) appearance, lessening their enjoyment of 

the area, and fearing that further pollution will cause harm to the Muddy’s fish and 

wildlife? 

 

II. Whether the ash, soil, and vegetative material which remains in the wetland and 

continues to seep pollutants into the Muddy constitutes a continuous violation when 

Bowman has failed to remove the fill material and instead is using the illegally filled 

wetland for agricultural purposes? 

 

III. Whether New Union Department of Environmental Protection (NUDEP) diligently 

prosecuted Bowman when it sought a court decree that does not require Bowman to 

remove the illegally discharged materials from the wetlands nor seeks a civil penalty 

for the illegal conduct, and thereby does not bring Bowman in compliance with the 

Clean Water Act (CWA)? 

 

IV. Whether the “addition” element of  § 404 was not met when Bowman purposefully 

dredged and filled the lower portions of his wetland and ditches with ash, vegetative 

material, and soil without a § 404 permit which specifically regulates the discharge of 

dredged and fill materials into navigable waters? 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On July 1, 2011, NUWF properly filed notice of intent to sue under § 505 of the CWA. 

(R. at 4). The notice alleged violations for filling wetlands without a permit in violation of §§ 
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301(a) and 404 of the CWA. (R. at 3). In response to NUWF’s notice of intent, NUDEP 

contacted Bowman and issued an administrative order. (R. at 4).  

On August 10, 2011, NUDEP brought suit against Bowman in federal court pursuant to § 

505 of the CWA. (R. at 5). On August 30, 2012, NUWF also filed suit under § 505 of the CWA, 

seeking civil penalties and an order for Bowman to remove the fill materials from the wetland. 

Id. Both NUWF and NUDEP filed motions to intervene in the other’s lawsuit; subsequently the 

court granted NUDEP’s motion to intervene in the NUWF case. Id. Most recently, NUDEP filed 

a motion to enter a decree with terms identical to an administrative order that the agency had 

previously issued Bowman. Id. Though Bowman consented to the decree, the lower court has not 

yet entered an opinion. Id.  

After discovery, all parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. Id. On June 1, 

2012, the District Court granted Bowman’s motion on all counts. (R. at 11). Following the order, 

NUWF and NUDEP timely filed a Notice of Appeal. (R. at 1). NUWF took issue with the district 

court’s finding that 1) it did not have standing; 2) the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction 

because the violations were wholly past; 3) the court lacked subject matter jurisdiction due to 

prior state action; and 4) there was no violation of the CWA. (R. at 1). NUDEP took issue with 

the District Court’s findings that 1) NUWF lacked standing; and 2) there was no violation of the 

CWA. Id. This Court granted review on September 14, 2012. (R. at 2). 

 STATEMENT OF THE FACTS  

Jim Bob Bowman owns property in New Union that sits entirely within the one-hundred 

year floodplain of the Muddy River. (R. at 3). The Muddy, which runs along 650 feet of 

Bowman’s property, shares a hydrological connection with Bowman’s land. (R. at 3). Citizens, 

like NUWF’s members, commonly use the Muddy for recreational purposes for at least forty 
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miles in either direction from where it borders Bowman’s property. (R. at 3). On June 15, 2011, 

Bowman commenced land-clearing operations and began to illegally fill his wetlands.  (R. at 

4).  Using bulldozers, Bowman leveled trees and other vegetation before burning the materials 

and dumping the remaining ash into trenches he had carved across the terrain. (R. at 4). Bowman 

then pushed soil from high lying areas of his land into the trenches and lower areas of the 

developing field. (R. at 4). To drain the field, Bowman dug a wide ditch that traversed his 

property and emptied into the Muddy. Though he was not yet finished, Bowman completed the 

first stage of his work on July 15, 2012, at which point he left a 150-foot wide strip of land next 

to the river to be cleared after the field had drained. (R. at 4).          

       NUWF is a non-profit organization chartered under New Union Law. On behalf of all New 

Unioners, the members have taken the burden of protecting New Union’s fish and wildlife upon 

themselves. (R. at 4). On July 1, 2012, in response to Bowman’s violations of the CWA, NUWF 

sent Bowman notice of their intent to sue. (R. at 4). Before citizen action could be brought, 

NUDEP signed an agreement with Bowman that was subsequently turned into an administrative 

order. (R. at 4). Though the order did not include an administrative penalty, it prohibited 

Bowman from filling more of the wetland in the future. (R. at 4).  Additionally, the order 

required Bowman to convey a conservation easement on the strip of land that Bowman had not 

yet cleared and to maintain an additional 75-foot artificial wetland buffer zone. (R. at 4). 

Significantly, NUDEP did not order Bowman to remove the soil, ash, and vegetation from the 

previously filled area. (R. at 4). Despite the successful issuance of the uncontested order, 

NUDEP subsequently filed suit against Bowman under the CWA. (R. at 5). NUDEP’s case 

against Bowman is currently unresolved; however, NUDEP recently filed a motion to enter a 
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decree identical to the previously enacted administrative order. (R. at 5). Though the motion is 

still pending, Bowman has agreed to the terms. (R. at 5).  

       During the pendency of NUDEP’s suit, NUWF also filed a suit against Bowman under § 505 

of the CWA into which NUDEP successfully intervened. (R. at 5). In its suit, NUWF sought an 

order to require that Bowman return the wetlands to their previous condition. (R. at 5). Members 

of NUWF provided affidavits asserting that they often use the Muddy and its banks 

recreationally. (R. at 6). The members also testified regarding their awareness of the value of the 

river and the importance of protecting nearby wetlands. (R. at 6). Specifically, Dottie Milford 

testified that she had observed a physical difference in the river since Bowman began his 

illegally filling the wetland. (R. at 6). Furthermore, members testified that they fear increasing 

pollution as a result of a wetland-filling domino effect. (R. at 6). Concerned for the safety of the 

Muddy’s fragile ecosystem, these members no longer enjoy the river as they have in the past.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

The Court of Appeals will review a ruling of summary judgment de novo. Pierce v. 

Underwood, 487 U.S. 552 (1988). Summary judgment is justified if, after drawing any 

permissible inference from the underlying facts in the light most favorable to the party opposing 

the motion, there is no genuine issue of material fact remaining for trial and the moving party is 

entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Id. at 818; Fed.R.Civ.P. 56(c). The District Court’s legal 

rulings on issues of statutory interpretation will be reviewed de novo. United States v. Jefferson-

Pilot Life Ins. Co., 49 F.3d 1020, 1021 (4th Cir. 1995). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The District Court erred in holding that NUWF does not have standing, that there was no 

continuous violation, that NUDEP had already diligently prosecuted the case, and that Bowman 
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did not violate § 404 of the CWA. NUWF has standing because the harm caused relates to the 

organization’s interest in protecting fish and wildlife, the suit does not require the participation 

of individual members, and several of its members have established individual standing. 

Bowman’s violation was continuous because the fill material will continue to pollute the wetland 

and the Muddy for a long time and because Bowman has failed to remedy the harm he has 

caused. NUDEP has failed to diligently prosecute the case because its suit was not filed in good 

faith and the relief sought by the agency is not capable of bringing Bowman into compliance 

with the CWA. Finally, Bowman actions violated § 404 because fill material constitutes an 

“addition” under § 404 because his redeposited material added pollutants to the wetland, the 

context of the term “addition” within §§ 402 and 404 are significantly different and should thus 

not be interpreted the same, and because the EPA’s Water Transfer Rule is not entitled to 

Chevron deference. 

To establish standing on behalf of its members, an organization must demonstrate that at 

least one of its members has standing in her own right. The district court improperly held that 

NUWF did not demonstrate that its members had suffered an injury sufficient to establish 

standing. Accordingly, the lower court incorrectly dismissed NUWF’s case. In reaching its 

conclusion, the District Court failed to recognize that the testimony of several NUWF members 

clearly established the existence of a justiciable injury. Since justiciable injuries can arise from 

harm to purely aesthetic or recreational interests, members’ perceptions of change in the Muddy, 

resulting from Bowman’s actions, satisfy initial standing inquiries. The lower court’s application 

of the doctrine unnecessarily raised the threshold that potential plaintiffs must meet to 

demonstrate standing.  In effect, the District Court’s approach bars legitimate plaintiffs from 

vindicating their interests in court.  
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The district court erred in ruling that Bowman’s violations were not continuous. The 

court reasoned that because Bowman had ceased filling the wetlands, his violations were “wholly 

past.” However, the court failed to recognize that the deleterious consequences of his violations 

are ongoing, and will continue until the fill is removed. Since Bowman has not taken any 

measures to remove the fill materials, his violations continue. Justice Scalia’s concurrence in 

Gwaltney also emphasized that a violator must take remedial steps before it can come into 

compliance with the CWA, which Bowman has failed to do. Further, disallowing citizen suits for 

dredging and filling projects which have already been completed will incentivize violators to 

complete their illegal activity quickly and in secret before discovery by citizen groups. Such an 

interpretation goes against the intent and purpose of the CWA, which has strong goals of 

enforcement and remediation. 

 The district court incorrectly held that NUDEP’s § 505 suit barred NUWF’s legal action 

against Bowman. Under the CWA, citizen suits are prohibited if the state or federal government 

is diligently prosecuting the alleged violator. In this case, NUDEP’s actions were not diligent 

because they were incapable of bringing Bowman into compliance with the CWA. NUDEP’s suit 

sought a decree identical to the administrative order that allowed Bowman to leave his wetlands 

filled. Since the filled wetlands constitute an ongoing violation of the CWA, NUDEP’s legal 

action was not capable of bringing Bowman into compliance. Furthermore, the action was not 

diligent because it was not taken in good faith. During their citizen suit, NUDEP proposed an 

agreement identical to the previously effectuated administrative order. As such, NUDEP’s action 

was unnecessarily duplicative and apparently brought only to bar subsequent citizen action. 

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the lower court’s holding that NUWF’s suit was barred.  
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This Court should follow other circuits that have held land clearing activities identical to 

Bowman’s violate the CWA without a § 404 permit issued by the Army Corps of Engineers 

(COE).  The District Court incorrectly presumed the definition of “addition” within § 404 must 

mirror the definition of “addition” proposed by the EPA's § 402 litigation.  The entirely separate 

context in which “addition” appears in §§ 402 and 404 overcomes the lower court's 

presumption.  Likewise, the District Court erred when it deferred to the interpretation of 

“addition” adopted by the preamble to the EPA’s Water Transfers Rule.  Not only is the 

preamble a guidance document, incapable of Chevron deference, but applying this definition 

would result in an unreasonable construction of the CWA.  Instead, this Court should look to 

COE regulations if it determines agency guidance is necessary.  Accordingly, this Court should 

overturn the lower court's ruling to hold land clearing activities that discharge dredged and fill 

materials on wetlands are illegal without a CWA § 404 permit. 

ARGUMENT 

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT NUWF DOES NOT HAVE 

STANDING BECAUSE SEVERAL OF ITS MEMBERS HAVE INDIVIDUAL 

STANDING, THE ISSUES AT INTEREST ARE RELEVANT TO THE NUWF’S 

PURPOSE, AND THE SUIT DOES NOT REQUIRE THE PARTICIPATION OF 

ITS MEMBERS. 

 

 The lower court improperly dismissed NUWF’s claim because it incorrectly held that 

NUWF failed to meet the requirements of Article III standing. Article III of the Constitution 

requires organizations to demonstrate the existence of three elements in order to ensure that their 

claim is a proper case or controversy. First, the organizational plaintiff must demonstrate that at 

least one of its members has standing. Friends of the Earth v. Laidlaw Envt’l Serv. Inc., 528 U.S. 

167, 181 (2000) (citing Hunt v. Washington State Apple Com’n, 432 U.S. 333, 343 (1977)). 

Second, organizational plaintiffs must demonstrate that the interests at issue are relevant to the 
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organization’s purpose. Id.  Finally, the organization must show that “neither the claim asserted 

nor the relief requested requires the participation of individual members in the lawsuit.” Id. 

Neither the parties nor the District Court questioned the relevance of the issue to the 

organization’s purpose. NUWF and its members work to ensure the protection of New Union’s 

fish and wildlife. This includes the protection of natural habitats as they exist in New Union. 

Furthermore, neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the participation of 

individual members in the lawsuit. Thus, the only contested issue regarding NUWF’s standing 

pertains to the standing of its individual members. 

 In order to establish that an individual member has standing, plaintiffs must show (1) that 

the individual has suffered an injury in fact (2) that is reasonably traceable to the “challenged 

actions” of the defendant, and (3) that a favorable decision is likely to redress the injury. Lujan v. 

Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560–561 (1992). The lower court did not take issue with the 

second and third prongs. With regard to causation, the harm endured by NUWF’s members is a 

direct result of Bowman’s illegal land filling. Since the filled wetland constitutes a continuing 

violation of the CWA, NUWF seeks an order requiring Bowman to restore the wetland to its 

previous condition. This will not only bring Bowman into compliance with the law, but it will 

also remediate the harm suffered by NUWF’s members. Thus the causation and redressibility 

requirements are satisfied. Though NUWF clearly met the second and third prongs of standing 

analysis, the District Court improperly denied standing, citing failure to articulate a justiciable 

injury.  

A. The District Court improperly held that NUWF failed to state a valid injury in 

fact because the organization succeeded in demonstrating a justiciable injury, to 

aesthetic interests enjoyed by its members, through testimony that must be taken 

as true at the summary judgment stage. 
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 Contrary to the lower court’s ruling, NUWF’s members have claimed an injury sufficient 

to demonstrate standing. Valid Article III injuries include allegations of harm to purely aesthetic 

interests, Summers v. Earth Island Institute, 555 U.S. 488, 494 (2009), even when such harms are 

highly attenuated. United States v. Students Challenging Regulatory Agency Procedures 

(SCRAP), 412 U.S. 669, 688 (1973).  To survive a motion for summary judgment, plaintiffs may 

set forth facts in the form of affidavits.  Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561. For purposes of summary 

judgment, such facts will be taken as true. Id. Thus, at the summary judgment stage, seemingly 

speculative injuries withstand standing analysis as long as they are asserted as fact and subject to 

proof at trial. SCRAP, 412 U.S. at 689; see also Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay 

Foundation, Inc., 484 U.S. 49 at 65 (“we made clear that a suit will not be dismissed for lack of 

standing if there are sufficient ‘allegations of fact’—not proof—in the complaint or supporting 

affidavits.”). NUWF’s allegations meet this threshold. 

 In reaching its holding, the District Court failed to acknowledge the valid claims made 

with regard to perceived changes to the Muddy. NUWF’s members alleged injuries to 

recreational and aesthetic interests. (R. at 6). Such injuries are appropriately justiciable. Sierra 

Club v. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 735 (1972). Since NUWF presented its members’ statements in 

response to a motion for summary judgment, the District Court should have accepted the 

statements as true. Lujan, 504 U.S. at 561. Furthermore, NUWF’s members’ articulated fears 

that the river will be devastatingly impacted if NUDEP continues to allow the filling of wetlands. 

(R. at 6). Reasonable fears of future environmental harm satisfy the standing inquiry. SCRAP, 

412 U.S. 669. Id. Thus, the lower court’s dismissal of NUWF’s claims as “speculative” is 

unfounded.   
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1. The injuries to aesthetic and recreational interests, alleged by NUWF’s members, 

are sufficient to satisfy standing analysis.  

 

 The lower court’s failure to recognize the legitimate allegations of harm resulting from 

NUWF’s members perception of change to the Muddy constitutes error. The Supreme Court has 

held that changes to aesthetic and recreational interests constitute justiciable injuries for the 

purpose of standing analysis. Morton, 405 U.S. 727, 735. Since the court below did not properly 

consider the claims asserted by NUWF’s members, it must be reversed for failure to 

acknowledge the presence of a valid Article III injury. 

 In Laidlaw, the Supreme Court found standing where members of an environmental 

organization expressed that they had decreased their use of a river as a result of fears surrounding 

emissions from a plant in violation of its NPDES permit. 528 U.S. at 184–85. Despite the lack of 

demonstrated harm to the environment, the Court held that affidavits alleging affects on affiants’ 

“recreational, aesthetic, and economic interests” satisfied the injury-in-fact requirement. Id. at 

183–84.  Similar to Laidlaw, affiants on behalf of NUWF have stated that they believe 

Bowman’s actions have contaminated the Muddy. (R. at 6). NUWF member Dottie Milford 

specifically alleged that the river’s appearance has changed as a result of Bowman’s illegal 

filling. (R. at 6). Such perceptual changes constitute an injury in fact because they limit the 

NUWF’s members’ ability to use and enjoy the Muddy. See Morton, 405 U.S. at 734–35. (stating 

that injury in fact can exist as a result of development that would negatively affect scenery, 

impairing the enjoyment of natural resources); see also Sierra Club, Lone Stare Chapter v. 

Cedar Point Oil Co. Inc., 73 F.3d 546, 556–557 (5th Cir. 1996) (holding that an affidavit from a 

member of an environmental organization, claiming to have perceived discoloration in the water 

as well as unpleasant odors, satisfied the injury requirement); see also Pub. Interest Research 

Group of New Jersey, Inc. v. Powell Duffryn Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 64, 71 (3d Cir. 1990) 
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(finding that an affiant who visited the impacted area several times a year satisfied injury 

requirement by alleging that he was offended by the color and odor of the water). In light of the 

depositional evidence provided by Ms. Milford, the lower court’s failure to find injury in fact 

constitutes reversible error.  

2. Even if this Court does not accept the validity of NUWF’s assertions regarding 

changes in the Muddy, the allegations regarding its members’ reasonable fears of 

future harm to the river satisfy standing inquiry. 

 

 The lower court incorrectly dismissed NUWF’s case by concluding that the alleged 

environmental harms were “only speculative” because the easement protects the river, preserving 

its aesthetic and navigational uses. (R. at 6). The District Court’s conclusion alludes to a 

fundamental misapplication of standing jurisprudence. Contrary to the District Court’s 

analysis,“[t]he relevant showing for purposes of Article III standing . . . is not injury to the 

environment but injury to the plaintiff.” Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 181. Thus, the perception or fear of 

aesthetic change is sufficient to constitute injury to a plaintiff for purposes of standing analysis. 

Morton, 405 U.S. at 734–35. Observable physical harm need not have materialized at the time of 

the trial. See e.g. Denney v. Deutsche Bank AG, 443 F.3d 253, 264–65 (2d Cir. 2006) (“An 

injury-in-fact may simply be the fear or anxiety of future harm.”). As such, the fear of 

perceptible environmental change, resulting from Bowman’s actions, expressed by NUWF’s 

members satisfies standing inquiry.   

 In Friends of the Earth, Inc. v. Gaston Copper Recycling Corp., the Fourth Circuit found 

standing when a homeowner alleged fears that pollution from a nearby factory was 

contaminating a lake on his property. 204 F.3d 149, 161 (4th Cir. 2000). Despite the lack of 

concrete evidence that the factory’s NPDES violations contributed to pollution in the lake, the 

court held that the homeowner had suffered an injury in fact. Id. at 156–58. The court reasoned 
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that the property holder’s knowledge of the discharges, coupled with his knowledge of the 

potentially harmful effects of the discharges, was sufficient to constitute injury because it 

impacted his use and enjoyment of the waterway. Id. Similar to Gaston Copper, where there was 

no question that the factory was discharging pollutants, it is uncontested that Bowman filled his 

wetlands. (R. at 4). Like the plaintiffs in Gaston Copper, NUWF’s members have testified that 

they are aware of the changes and know that such activities cause environmental harm. (R. at 6). 

Furthermore, NUWF’s members have also testified that the knowledge of Bowman’s illegal 

activities has impacted their use and enjoyment of the Muddy. Id.   

 Additionally, NUWF’s members’ fears that others will follow Bowman’s lead and fill 

wetlands constitute a justiciable injury. In SCRAP, the Supreme Court held that a student group 

had standing to challenge general rate increases that the group claimed could have lead to 

impacts on the Washington area’s environmental resources. SCRAP, 412 U.S. at 688. 

Specifically, SCRAP’s members averred that increases in rail rates would lead to the increased 

use of non-recyclable goods. Id. This, they claimed, would result in a twofold environmental 

harm. Id. First, the increased use of certain goods would necessitate an increased need to procure 

natural resources. Id. Second, the increase in non-recyclable goods would result in waste 

accumulations in the National Parks used by the group’s members. Id. In finding for the 

organization, the Court noted that potential plaintiffs pass standing analysis at summary 

judgment if the facts alleged—when taken as true—would reasonably cause the identified harm. 

Id. at 689. In this case, NUWF’s members fear that more wetlands will be filled as a result of the 

Bowman’s actions, and that the further destruction of wetlands will cause further pollution of the 

Muddy. NUWF’s members’ fears are far less attenuated, particularly in light of Dottie Milford’s 

affidavit. (R. at 6).  
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B. The District Court’s holding improperly raises the standing threshold, and in 

effect, bars potential plaintiffs whose cases should rightfully be heard in court. 

 

 Despite testimony adequately alleging harm, the District Court erroneously required a 

greater showing to establish injury in fact. (R. at 6). The injury prong is a low threshold for 

potential plaintiffs. See Cedar Point Oil Co. Inc., 73 F.3d at 557 n. 23 (citing cases from several 

circuits that indicate the injury requirement is a low threshold). The requirement serves to 

establish the connection between the potential plaintiff and the challenged action or event. C.f. 

Laidlaw, 528 U.S. at 183 (noting that the injury requirement is satisfied as long as plaintiffs 

demonstrate that they are among those who will be affected by the challenged action). 

Accordingly, factors like the severity of the injury or subsequent benefits have no bearing on 

standing analysis. See Conservation Council of N. Carolina v. Costanzo, 505 F.2d 498, 501 (4th 

Cir. 1974) (noting that even seemingly insignificant injuries can evoke standing) (citing United 

States v. SCRAP, 412 U.S. at 687-689, n. 14). In its opinion, the lower court indicated that even 

if NUWF’s members suffered harm, the potential benefits of the buffer zone offset the injury. (R. 

at 6). Such a view contravenes standing jurisprudence. See Denney, 443 F.3d at 265 (“the fact 

that an injury may be outweighed by other benefits, while often sufficient to defeat a claim for 

damages, does not negate standing”) (internal citations omitted). Since it is not the severity of the 

injury, rather, merely the existence of injury that matters for purposes of standing analysis, 

mitigating factors are irrelevant in assessing a claim’s justiciablity. Id.  

 By focusing on the severity of the injury, as well as including mitigating factors in its 

standing inquiry, the District Court improperly raised the justicibility threshold beyond that 

which the Constitution requires. If this Court accepts the lower court’s approach to standing, it 

will bar potential plaintiffs, whose claims are valid cases and controversies, from vindicating 

their legitimate interests through the judicial system. This Court must reject such a standard 
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because it infringes upon Congress’ authority to allow citizen suits under the CWA. Gaston 

Copper, 204 F.3d at 151. Instead, this Court should recognize that standing requires only the 

existence of sufficient allegations of injury, without regard to the severity of the harm caused. As 

such, this Court must reverse the decision of the District Court and find that NUWF has standing 

to bring its claim against Bowman.  

II. THE VEGETATION, ASH, AND SOIL WITHIN THE WETLAND DITCHES 

CONSTITUTE AN ONGOING VIOLATION BECAUSE OF THE NATURE OF 

THE POLLUTANTS AND BECAUSE BOWMAN HAS NOT TAKEN ANY 

REMEDIAL ACTION. 

 

Fill material causes a continuous violation until the material is removed from the wetland. 

Section 505 of the CWA, which governs citizen suits, provides that citizens may bring suit 

against any person “who is alleged to be in violation of [a]. . . limitation under this chapter.” 33 

U.S.C. § 1365. The Supreme Court in Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay 

Foundation, Inc.  found that “to be in violation,” is ambiguous, and thus subject to statutory 

interpretation. 484 U.S. 49, 56–57 (1987). In order to interpret the statute, the Court examined 

the purpose of citizen suits, finding that the harm sought to be addressed must lie in the present 

or future. Id. at 59. It thereby found that citizens may sue so long as the violation is not “wholly 

past.” See generally id. at 60–63. Although Gwaltney established that citizens may sue for 

violations that are not wholly past, it did not specify when a violation is wholly past. Aiello v. 

Town of Brookhaven, 136 F.Supp.2d 81, 120 (E.D.N.Y. 2001). 

Subsequent courts have largely found that unlike other pollutants, fill material that 

remains in a wetland is a continuous violation until the material is removed. E.g. Sasser v. 

Administrator, U.S. E.P.A., 990 F.2d 127, 129 (4th Cir. 1997). Courts have also focused on the 

purpose of the statutory intent of the citizen suit provision of CWA, in that it aims to bring 

violators into compliance, as well as ensuring polluters do not have incentive to commit their 
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violations in secret. Because Bowman’s fill material remains in the wetland and he has not taken 

any steps to rectify the pollution, the lower court erred when it ruled there was no continuous 

violation. 

A. By its nature, solid fill creates a continuous violation until it is removed from the 

wetland because the consequences caused by the violation continue for a pro-

longed period of time and solid fill is susceptible to being removed. 

 

The soil, vegetative material, and ash will remain stationary and carry the same polluting 

effect within the wetland over a long period, therefore the consequences of the original violation 

continue and will continue. The basis for citizen suits is the consequential harm that results from 

violations, not for the violations themselves. City of Mountain Park, GA v. Lakeside at Ansley, 

LLC, 560 F.Supp.2d 1288, 1293–94. Fill materials cause consequential harm which differs from 

most other pollutants.. Id. at 1296. This difference was recognized by the Supreme Court in 

Rapanos v. U.S., when the Court noted that “dredged and fill material” have a separate 

permitting program from other forms of discharges because these materials are typically 

deposited for “the sole purpose of staying put.” 547 U.S. 715, 744–45 (2006). 

In Mountain Park, the Court focused on the long-lasting harm which fill material 

continues to cause after its initial discharge. Mountain Park, 560 F.Supp.2d at 1296. It reasoned, 

that unlike other polluting materials which dissipate or dissolve over time, fill materials “stay 

intact over time and thus continue to have roughly the same net polluting effect years or even 

decades after the time of their deposit.” Id. Other courts have agreed that when the material 

continues to have a long-lasting polluting effect, the violation continues until the material is 

removed. See Greenfield Mills, Inc. v. Goss, 2005 WL 1563433, 4 (N.D. Ind. 2005) (finding that 

a continuing violation exists when the consequences of the original dredging continues); see also 
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Sasser, 990 F.2d at 120 (finding that each day the material remains in the wetland constitutes an 

additional day of violation). 

The addition of fill material to wetlands is significantly different from those cases which 

involve the migration of contaminants. In Aiello, the Court held that the migration of pollutants 

into navigable waters after the defendant had ceased operations did not constitute a continuing 

violation. Aiello, 136 F.Supp. at 121. However, as mentioned in Greenfield Mills, the 

consequences for the discharge of fill material is both immediate and continuous until the 

material is removed, rather than only a residual effect from a prior discharge as was the case in 

Aiello. Greenfield Mills, Inc., 2005 WL at 4. Additionally, Mountain Park noted that while the 

type of pollution in Aiello may take weeks or months to dissipate, fill material could take years 

or decades. Mountain Park, 560 F.Supp.2d at 1296. 

The pollutants which Bowman has placed in the trenches present the exact situation 

which courts have classified as a continuous violation. From the moment Bowman pushed the 

vegetative material, ash, and soil into the windrows, he was in violation of the CWA.
1
 The vast 

increase in nutrients that have been added to the wetland will likely flow into the Muddy and 

lead to eutrophication,
2
 which will cause ongoing environmental harm for a long time. See Upper 

Blackstone Water Pollution Abatement Dist. v. EPA, 690 F.3d 9, 11-12 (describing the 

eutrophication cycle, which is continually fed and perpetuated as vegetation and algae 

decompose). The lower court erred when it determined that it is only Bowman’s activities which 

can create a continuous violation. (R. at 7). Because the consequences of Bowman’s conduct 

continues, the harm sought to be addressed by the citizen suit exists in the present and future. 

                                                 
1 See infra Part IV. 
2 A process caused by an increase in nutrients to bodies of water which cause algal blooms. Upper Blackstone, 690 

F.3d at 11. The high rates of respiration from the algae leads to oxygen depletion, which in turn threatens other plant 

and animals life. Id. at 11–12. 
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Therefore the Court should reverse the District Court’s holding and find that Bowman’s violation 

is continuous. 

B. Bowman’s violations are continuous until he removes the fill material from the 

wetland because without remediating his harm, he has not come into a state of 

compliance. 

 

Bowman’s failure to remove the fill material places him in a state of violation. Another 

approach used in Gwaltney to interpret the “to be in violation” language of § 505 comes from the 

Justice Scalia concurrence. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 69. Justice Scalia interpreted the language to 

convey a state rather than an act, a state that is the opposite of compliance. Id. As such, he 

reasoned that so long as the polluter has not put in place remedial actions that address the 

violation, the violation continues. Id. 

Subsequent courts have applied this reasoning to cases involving fill material in 

particular. E.g. North Carolina Wildlife Federation v. Woodbury, 1989 WL 106517, 2–3 

(E.D.N.C. 1989). In Woodbury, the Court found the Scalia approach to be “eminently 

reasonable.” Id. at 2. Because it is the consequences of a polluting act which causes a violation, 

the Court in Woodbury found it reasonable to find that the violation continues until remedial 

actions are taken to address these consequences. Id. This conclusion is in line with Gwaltney, 

because it is only applicable to those pollutants which are susceptible to remedial efforts, such as 

fill material. Id. at 3. 

Thus far, Bowman’s actions only constitute mitigation, and not remediation. His 

agreement with the NUDEP to cease his bulldozing and to turn the remainder of his property into 

a conservation easement does not address his violations of the CWA. (R. at 4). The materials 

Bowman has dredged are vegetation, soil, and ash. Id. Unlike the effluent discharges in 

Gwaltney, these types of materials are susceptible to being removed. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 52. 
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Given that Bowman has taken no remedial actions to remove the materials, his violations of the 

CWA continue.  

Further, the lower court erred when it reasoned that the statute of limitations would never 

run. (R. at 7). The CWA has strong remedial overtones, thus it is appropriate that the statute of 

limitations should begin to run when the violator has begun remedial actions. See U.S. v. Reaves, 

923 F.Supp 1530, 1534 (M.D. Fla. 1996) (concluding that the statute of limitations has not yet 

begun to run because defendant failed to take remedial actions; which it found to be consistent 

with the remedial purposes of the CWA). Since Bowman has failed to take any remedial action, 

it is only appropriate that the statute of limitations does not begin until he has taken such 

measures. For the foregoing reasons, the Court should reverse the lower court’s holding and find 

that the violation has been continuous. 

C. Given the comparatively short period of time in which dredging and filling 

violations occur, the purposes of § 505 of the CWA will be undermined if 

violators are only held accountable for the act of dredging and filling, and not 

for the consequences. 

 

If Bowman is not held accountable for his violations, other potential violators will have 

incentive to complete their illegal activities quickly and in secret. This will undermine the goals 

of § 505 of the CWA, which aims to allow citizens to sue for continuing harm to waterways. 

Gwaltney expressed that the purpose of citizen suits is to address harm that exists in the present 

or future. Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 59. In Gwaltney, the type of harm caused by the violation, an 

effluent discharge, occurred routinely or intermittently over a long period whenever the plant 

exceeded the limitations of its permit. See Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 53 (explaining the details of the 

effluent limitations permit, which spanned for at least five years). In reaching its conclusion that 

citizens may not sue for “wholly past” violations, its reasoning focused on pollution types which 

are assumed to occur either continuously or sporadically over a long period. See id. at 384 
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(discussing the legislative intent for the basis of its decision specifically pertaining to permit 

violations which occur either continuously or sporadically).  

However, unlike the pollutants discharged in Gwaltney, dredging and filling is often a 

temporary form of discharge, which occurs over a very short period of time. See Sasser, 990 F.2d 

at 129 (noting that the defendant’s illegal discharge of pollutants into the wetland for which the 

suit was brought occurred in “December 1986”). Courts have expressed concern that if citizen 

suits are limited to bringing suit when violators are actively dredging and filling wetlands, 

violators will be incentivized to carry out their illegal activities in secret. E.g. Woodbury, 1989 

WL at 3. This would ultimately frustrate the enforcement of the CWA. See id. (finding that if 

violators are given incentive to conceal their activities from public and private scrutiny, 

enforcement of the of the CWA will be seriously challenged). Finding it unlikely that the drafters 

of the Act intended for such a loophole, courts have thus found it reasonable to consider fill 

material in wetlands to be a continuous violation. See City of Mountain Park, 560 F.Supp.2d at 

1296 (finding that if the drafters did not intend to enable citizens to sue for fill materials that 

remain in wetlands, it would effectively incentivize violators to carry out their violations in 

secret). 

Like the defendant in Sasser, Bowman had completed the vast majority of his intended 

illegal dredging and filling within a month. (R. at 4). Additionally, the Court does not take into 

account that prior to his notice of suit from NUDEP, Bowman had further plans to continue to 

level another strip of his land. (R. at 4). The lower court’s ruling not only incentivizes polluters 

to violate the CWA in secret, but mandates that citizens can only sue if they find violators when 

they are actively dredging and filling a wetland. Such a ruling would leave citizens with the 

ability to pursue only a fraction of CWA cases involving fill material, despite the ongoing and 
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long-term effects of these violations. Because such a ruling would go against the very purpose of 

§ 505 of the CWA, this Court should reverse the District Court’s holding and find that the 

violation is continuous. 

III. THIS COURT SHOULD FIND THAT NUWF WAS NOT BARRED FROM 

BRINGING SUIT UNDER § 505 OF THE CWA BECAUSE NUDEP DID NOT 

DILIGENTLY PROSECUTE BOWMAN. 

 

 The District Court incorrectly held that NUDEP’s litigation against Bowman precludes 

NUWF’s citizen suit. Section 505(b)(1)(B) of the CWA bars citizens from bringing suits under 

the Act if the “state has commenced and is diligently prosecuting a civil . . . action in a court of 

the United States . . . to require compliance with the standard, limitation, or order . . . .” 33 

U.S.C. § 1365(b)(1)(B). The District Court’s application of § 505(b)(1)(B) should be overturned 

for three reasons. First, the court incorrectly expanded the meaning of diligent prosecution to 

include actions that are incapable of bringing violators into compliance with the law. Such an 

interpretation is contrary to the plain language and intent of the CWA. Second, the court’s 

application of § 505(b)(1)(B) allows bad faith suits, filed for the purpose of circumventing the 

citizen suit provision, to bar good faith citizen actions. Finally, affirming the District Court’s 

order will create a dangerous standard that allows state governments to eliminate all citizen suits, 

thus circumventing the intent behind § 505(a) of the CWA.  

A. NUDEP’s prosecution was not diligent because it did not require Bowman to 

restore the filled wetlands and was therefore not capable of requiring 

compliance with the CWA.  

 

 The lower court incorrectly held that NUDEP’s action was diligent under § 505 (b)(1)(B). 

Though §505 does not require government action to be “far-reaching or zealous,” Karr v. Hefner 

475 F.3d 1192, 1197 (10th Cir. 2007), an action cannot be diligent if it is incapable of bringing 

violators into compliance with the Act. See Gwaltney of Smithfield, Ltd. v. Chesapeake Bay 
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Found., Inc., 484 U.S. 49, 62 (1987) (allowing § 505 citizen action where “the government 

cannot or will not command compliance.”); see also Friends of Milwaukee’s Rivers v. 

Milwaukee Metro. Sewerage Dist., 382 F.3d 743, 752–53 (7th Cir. 2004) (noting that if 

violations were caused by lingering problems following government action, the violations were 

prima facie evidence that the action was not diligent prosecution); see also Sierra Club v. ICG 

E., LLC, 833 F. Supp. 2d 571, 578–80 (N.D.W. Va. 2011) (holding that the citizen suit was 

barred because the draft consent decree was capable of requiring compliance with the CWA).  

 In The Piney Run Pres. Ass'n v. The County Com'rs Of Carroll County, MD, the Fourth 

Circuit held that the Maryland Department of the Environment action was diligent, and thus 

barred subsequent citizen suits. 523 F.3d 453, 460–61 (4th Cir. 2008). In Piney Run, an 

environmental group filed a citizen suit against a Maryland county in response to a wastewater 

treatment plant’s alleged violations of the CWA. Id. at 455–59. Prior to the suit, the Maryland 

Department of the Environment (MDE) entered a Consent Judgment with the county. Id. In its 

pertinent part, the Consent Judgment required the county “achieve compliance” with the 

contested elements of its environmental permit. Id. at 458. In holding that the Consent Judgment 

constituted diligent prosecution on the part of MDE, the court analyzed whether the state action 

was capable of bringing the county into compliance with the CWA. Id. at 460. Noting that the 

Consent Judgment explicitly required the county “to take all steps necessary to comply with all 

terms and conditions of its . . . permit . . . .” the court held that MDE’s action constituted diligent 

prosecution. Id.  

 Unlike Piney Run, neither the terms of NUDEP’s proposed decree, nor the preceding 

administrative order, are capable of bringing Bowman into compliance with the Act. 

“Compliance means an end to violations, not merely a reduction in the number or size of them.” 
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Friends of Milwaukee's Rivers, 382 F.3d at 764. As discussed above, Bowman’s violation is 

ongoing and will continue into the future unless judicial relief is granted in favor of NUWF.
3
 

While NUDEP’s administrative order does provide that Bowman must cease filling wetlands, it 

does nothing to remediate the ongoing violations caused by virtue of the presently filled 

wetlands. (R. at 7).  

B. NUDEP’s prosecution of Bowman was not diligent because it was unnecessarily 

duplicative and brought in bad faith.  

 

 The lower court erred in holding that NUDEP’s actions against Bowman barred NUWF’s 

suit because NUDEP did not act in good faith. Government action cannot be considered diligent 

if it is not calculated in good faith to bring the violator into compliance. Piney Run Pres. Ass'n, 

523 F.3d at 459 (quoting Friends of Milwaukee's Rivers, 382 F.3d at 760). In this case, not only 

was NUDEP’s § 505 suit incapable of bringing Bowman into compliance with the law, but it was 

also brought in bad faith to bar citizen actions. As such, this Court must reverse the District 

Court’s decision and preserve NUWF’s ability to enforce the CWA.  

 This case’s chronology indicates that NUDEP’s § 505 suit against Bowman was brought 

in bad faith. NUDEP’s suit against Bowman followed the issuance of the August 1, 2011 

administrative order. Significantly, the administrative action did not seek penalties. (R. at 4). As 

a result, subsequent citizen suits were not likely barred. (R. at 4).; 33 U.S.C § 1319(g)(6); See 

Washington Public Interest Research Group v. Pendleton Woolen Mills, 11 F.3d 883, 885 (9th 

Cir. 1993) (noting that administrative compliance orders that do not seek civil penalties do not 

bar citizen suits); see also PennEnvironment v. RRI Energy Ne. Mgmt. Co., 744 F. Supp. 2d 466, 

472 (W.D. Pa. 2010) (“section 1319(g)(6)(A) only serves to bar a citizen suit where 

administrative penalties are already being sought or have already been imposed by . . . the 

                                                 
3 See supra Section II 
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state.”) (internal citations omitted); see also Molokai Chamber of Commerce v. Kukui (Molokai), 

Inc., 891 F. Supp. 1389, 1403 (D. Haw. 1995) (“state enforcement, like the federal, must seek 

penalties in order to bar citizen suits.”). Despite the successful issuance of the administrative 

order, NUDEP elected to file a § 505 suit against Bowman. 

 Ostensibly, NUDEP’s suit did not advance any interest beyond what the agency had 

already achieved through its administrative order. Bowman and NUDEP agreed to settle the suit 

under terms identical to the uncontested order that was already in effect. (R. at 5). As such, 

NUDEP’s § 505 suit was unnecessarily duplicative and could not have been reasonably 

calculated to achieve compliance with the Act.
4
 In light of the fact that NUDEP’s suit did not 

seek anything beyond what the agency had already achieved, it appears that the suit against 

Bowman most likely arose from the desire to preclude citizen action.  

C. Adopting the lower court’s interpretation of § 505(b)(1)(B) creates a dangerous 

standard that undermines the intention of the CWA 

 

 In dismissing NUWF’s claim as a result of NUDEP’s actions, the lower court has 

allowed NUDEP and Bowman to circumvent the citizen suit provision of the CWA and has laid 

the foundation for a dangerous standard. The lower court’s interpretation of diligence includes 

bad faith actions that cannot bring violators into compliance with the Act. Such a reading of § 

505(b)(1)(B) undermines the clear purpose of the CWA by inhibiting the supplementary role 

citizen suites play in enforcing compliance when the government cannot.
5
 See James R. May, 

Now More than Ever: Trends in Environmental Citizen Suits at 30, 10 Widener L. Rev. 91, 110 

(2003) (noting that citizen suit provisions are designed to fill gaps in government enforcement). 

Congress has relied on citizen suits to enforce environmental laws where the government cannot 

                                                 
4 See supra Section II (government action was not capable of bringing Bowman into compliance with the Act 

because it could not remediate the ongoing damage caused by the filled wetland).  
5 Congress enacted the Clean Water Act “to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of 

the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C.A. § 1251(a).  
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or will not act. David R. Hodas, Enforcement of Environmental Law in A Triangular Federal 

System: Can Three Not Be A Crowd When Enforcement Authority Is Shared by the United States, 

the States, and Their Citizens?, 54 Md. L. Rev. 1552, 1617–25 (1995). As such, citizen suits 

should not be readily dismissed at the first hint of government action. See Friends of the Earth v. 

Carey, 535 F.2d 165, 172 (2d Cir. 1976) (“[i]n enacting § 304 of the 1970 Amendments, 

Congress made clear that citizen groups are . . . to be . . . welcomed participants in the 

vindication of environmental interests.”). Rather, this Court should recognize the important 

function served by environmental citizen suits by enforcing a standard that requires more than 

the most minimal government action to bar them.  

 Furthermore, the District Court’s application of § 505(b)(1)(B) creates a dangerous 

standard that could lead to undesirable results.  It is widely known that regulators often encounter 

powerful disincentives to enforcing environmental laws. David R. Hodas, 54 Md. L. Rev. at 

1574–76. If this Court adopts the lower court’s interpretation of § 505(b)(1)(B), state entities will 

be able to negate citizen suit provisions through the most rudimentary actions, even where those 

actions do not bring violators into compliance with the law.  Moreover, the adoption of the 

improperly low diligence standard endorsed by the District Court would incentivize industry 

capture. By allowing unnecessary or duplicative government actions to preclude citizen suits, 

this Court would provide an avenue for collusive entities to shield specific interests at the 

expense of the environment. Such a standard clearly undermines the CWA by negating its 

enforcement provisions and leaving injured citizens without remedy.  

 In sum, new Union has failed to exercise its enforcement responsibility. Accordingly, this 

Court should recognize that citizen action in this case is not only available, but it is necessary to 

vindicate the public rights protected under the CWA. See Gwaltney, 484 U.S. at 60 (noting that 
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citizen suits are proper if the state has failed to exercise its enforcement responsibility). The 

lower court’s application improperly renders citizen suits secondary to government action rather 

than supplementary, and deprives the public of the valuable service provide by NUWF. See Id. at 

60. (“the citizen suit is meant to supplement . . . governmental action.”); see Senate Committee 

on Public Works, S.Rep.No.91-1196, 91
st
 Cong., 2d Sess., at 37 (1970) (“[t]he courts should 

recognize that in bringing legitimate actions . . . citizens would be performing a public service . . 

. .”).  

IV. THE LOWER COURT INCORRECTLY DECIDED THAT THE “ADDITION” 

ELEMENT OF A § 404 VIOLATION WAS NOT SATISFIED BY DEFENDANT’S 

LAND CLEARING ACTIVITIES. 

 

 The District Court erred when it determined Bowman did not satisfy the “addition” 

element of a discharge under CWA § 404.  The CWA prohibits “the discharge of any pollutant 

by any person,” except in compliance with a permit issued by the EPA under § 402 or the Army 

Corps of Engineers (COE) under § 404.  33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).  The CWA defines “discharge of a 

pollutant” as “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”  33 

U.S.C. § 1362(12)(A).  Furthermore, § 502 defines “pollutant,” “navigable waters,” and “point 

source.”  However, “addition” is not defined by the CWA or by regulations issued by either the 

EPA or the COE.  (R. at 9).  The lower court and all parties agree that the first three elements of 

a CWA permit violation are satisfied. (R. at 8–9).  

The District Court erred when it relied upon EPA interpretations of “addition” under § 

402 to hold that Bowman's land-clearing activities did not constitute a discharge requiring a § 

404 permit. (R. at 10). First, Bowman added pollutants when he redeposited dredged and fill 

material on his wetlands.  Second, the “addition” language in § 404 should not be presumed to 

have a meaning identical to the same language appearing in § 402.  Finally, when interpreting § 
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404 this Court should not give Chevron deference to any “addition” language contained in the 

EPA's Water Transfers Rule. Because the District Court improperly relied upon these 

interpretations in making its ruling, this Court should overturn the lower court's decision. 

A. Without a § 404 permit, Bowman’s land-clearing activities violate the CWA because 

the redeposit of dredged and fill material on his wetlands was an “addition.” 

 

 Defendant's land clearing activities constituted an “addition” when he redeposited 

dredged and fill material in the wetlands.  Section  404 of the CWA prohibits the discharge of 

dredged and fill material into the navigable waters of the United States without a permit from the 

COE.  33 U.S.C. § 1344(a).  The word “addition,” appearing in the definition of “discharge,” 

may reasonably be understood to include “redeposit.” Avoyelles Sportsmen's League, Inc. v. 

Marsh, 715 F.2d 897, 923 (5th Cir. 1983).  The Avoyelles court reasoned that the CWA was 

designed to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the waters of 

the United States.  Id. (citing 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)).  Redepositing activities “significantly alter 

the character of the wetlands and limit the vital ecological functions served by the tract,” and 

should be considered an addition.  Id.; see also United States v. Deaton, 209 F.3d 331, 336 (4th 

Cir. 2000). Congress provided that even plain dirt, once excavated from the waters of the United 

States, could not be redeposited without causing harm to the environment.  Id.  In light of the 

CWA's purpose, it is unlikely that Congress would have intended to limit the “addition” of 

discharged and fill materials to those which are brought from the outside of the wetland.  Deaton, 

Id.  Accordingly, defining “addition” to include “redeposit” is consistent with both the purpose 

and the legislative history of the CWA.  Id. 

Bowman’s land clearing operations violate CWA § 404.  Other courts have held activities 

such as leveling vegetation with a bulldozer, digging a drainage ditch, and pushing soil and 

vegetation from high portions of his land to low lying portions constitute a “discharge” under the 



27 

 

CWA.  See Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 920–21 (describing such activities as leveling a swampy flood 

plain by digging a drainage ditch, cutting down timber and vegetation with a bulldozer, and 

pushing the dredged soil and vegetation into the land's low spots to raise and level it to be a 

discharge); see also Deaton, 209 F.3d at 337 (describing activities such as ditch-digging with 

attendant sidecasting, spreading of soils, mechanized land clearing, and depositing fill materials 

into wetlands to constitute the “addition” of pollutants into waters of the United States within the 

meaning of the CWA section 502(12)); see also U.S. v. Bay-Houston Towing Co., Inc., 33 

F.Supp.2d 596, 606–607 (E.D.Mich. 1999) (holding that deliberately displacing and relocating 

indigenous material within wetlands can constitute a discharge of fill materials for the purposes 

of CWA §  404).  Therefore, Bowman illegally discharged fill material when he relocated 

vegetation and soil throughout the wetlands without a § 404 permit. 

The District Court failed to consider that whether the dredged and fill material comes 

from outside a wetland or from within the same wetland the hydrological and environmental 

effects on the disposal site are exactly the same.  Deaton, 209 F.3d at 336 (noting these effects 

are contrary to the purpose of the CWA).  Pollutants were redistributed throughout the wetland, 

constituting an “addition” prohibited by the CWA without a permit.  Because the lower court 

erred, this Court should reverse the lower court's holding and find that Bowman's redeposit of 

pollutants satisfies the “addition” element of a CWA § 301(a) violation. 

B. The definition of “addition” as it appears in the § 402 permitting program context 

should not influence this Court’s interpretation of the same term in a significantly 

separate context. 

 

The separate contexts in which “addition” appears in both §§ 402 and 404 overcomes any 

presumption that Congress intended the term to be defined identically in each.  It is a 

fundamental canon of statutory construction that words in a statute must be read in their context 
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and with a view to their place in the overall statutory scheme.   Roberts v. Sea-Land Services, 

Inc., 132 S.Ct. 1350, 1357 (2012).  In some circumstances identical words used in different parts 

of the same statute are intended to have the same meaning, but this presumption “readily yields” 

when the context in which the words are used vary enough to conclude they were employed with 

different intent.  Id. at 1360.  

Likewise, “addition” should not have an identical meaning when interpreted within §§ 

402 and 404.  The CWA clearly provides separate and exclusive permitting programs based on a 

distinction between the nature of depositing “dredged or fill material” and the nature of 

discharging other pollutants.  Rapanos v. United States, 547 U.S. 715, 744–45 (2006).  

Accordingly, Congress drafted § 402 to allow the EPA to grant NPDES permits “[e]xcept as 

provided in ***[§ 404].”  33 U.S.C. § 1342(a).  Furthermore, Congress provide for each 

permitting program to be governed by separate regulations.  For instance, § 404, unlike § 402, 

does not mandate agency compliance with EPA effluent limitations.  33 U.S.C. § 1342.  As a 

result, this Court cannot presume Congress intended to treat “addition” identically in §§ 402 and 

404 given the exclusive statutory schemes governing each. 

The nature of Bowman’s discharge differs significantly from the nature of discharges 

governed by § 402.  Although Nat'l Wildlife Fed'n v. Gorsuch defined “addition” in § 402 to 

mean physically introducing a pollutant into water from the outside world, the court narrowly 

applied this definition to transfers of polluted water.  693 F.2d 156, 165; 175 (D.C. Cir. 1982).  

In stark contrast, Bowman used a bulldozer to spread fill material throughout his property as he 

demolished hundreds of acres of wetlands.  (R. at 4–8).  These distinct activities demonstrate 

why Congress saw fit to construct separate permitting schemes to govern each.  Furthermore, the 

difference in the nature of the pollutants and statutory schemes represent the separate contexts in 
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which “addition” should be interpreted independently.  Therefore, the lower court erred when it 

relied on a definition proposed in the § 402 context, and this Court should reverse the lower 

court's ruling. 

C. This Court should not give Chevron deference to the interpretation of “addition” 

adopted by the preamble to the EPA's Water Transfers Rule. 

 

The EPA interpreted “addition” in the preamble of its Water Transfer Rule to incorporate 

the “unitary navigable waters” theory, under which all navigable waters are one for the purpose 

of § 301(a) of the CWA.  National Pollutant Discharge Elemination System (NPDES) Water 

Transfer Rule, 73 Fed. Reg. 33,697 (June 13, 2008) (codified at 40 C.F.R. pt. 122).  This Court 

should not give Chevron deference to the Water Transfers Rule preamble for three independent 

reasons.  First, the preamble to the Water Transfers Rule is not a regulatory authority recognized 

by the Chevron framework as deserving this Court’s deference.  Second, if this Court were to 

apply the Chevron framework, the unitary waters theory definition would not survive.  Finally, if 

this Court requires agency guidance in interpreting discharges governed by the § 404 permitting 

program it should look to COE regulations qualifying mechanized land clearing activities as 

“additions.” 

1. Language embodied in the preamble of a regulation intended to apply only to water 

transfers should not receive Chevron deference. 

 

The District Court’s ruling contradicts not only the EPA’s purpose for adopting the 

unified waters theory, but also the Chevron court’s reasoning for deferring to agency authority.  

First, “addition” is not defined by the Water Transfers Rule itself.  Instead, the unitary navigable 

waters theory appears only in the rule’s preamble.  (R. at 10).  Second, the Water Transfers Rule 

preamble explains that its guidance was intended to apply exclusively to § 402’s regulation of 
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water transfers.  40 C.F.R. pt. 122.  As a result, this Court should not extend Chevron deference 

to the unitary waters theory interpretation of “addition.” 

Interpretations contained in policy statements do not fall within the Chevron 

framework.  U.S. v. Mead Corp., 533 U.S. 218, 232 (2001).  In order for an agency’s action to 

deserve Chevron deference it must generally result from a relatively formal administrative 

procedure tending to foster fairness and deliberation.  Id. at 230.  However, the Water Transfers 

Rule preamble represents a policy statement that was not subject to formal notice-and-comment 

rule-making and is therefore outside the reach of Chevron deference. 

It is important to note that Friends of Everglades v. S. Florida Water Mgmt. Dist., relied 

upon by the lower court, did not specifically afford the Water Transfer Rule's preamble Chevron 

deference. 570 F.3d 1219, 1218–19 (11th Cir. 2009).  The Everglades court merely described the 

regulation as adopting the unitary waters theory based on the preamble's language.  Id.  Instead, 

the court specifically afforded deference to the regulation itself, which stated water transfers are 

not subject to regulation under the NPDES permitting program. Id.  In fact, the court's decision 

warns of the similar hazard of confusing legislation with its accompanying preamble.  “[E]ven 

when the preamble to legislation speaks single-mindedly and espouses lofty goals. . . What 

emerges to become the enactment is often less pure than the preamble promises.”  Id. at 

1227.  Therefore, Everglades should not be read as conferring Chevron deference to the unitary 

navigable waters theory itself. 

Furthermore, the EPA did not intend for the unitary navigable waters definition to apply 

to § 404 discharges.  The Water Transfers Rule, as the preamble explains, was drafted by the 

EPA in response to a split among the circuits specifically on the narrow legal question of 

whether a water transfer constitutes an “addition” within the meaning of CWA § 502(12).  40 
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C.F.R. pt. 122(III)(B).  In response, the purpose of the rule was solely to exempt from the 

NPDES permit scheme “an activity that conveys or connects waters of the United States without 

subjecting the transferred water to intervening industrial, municipal, or commercial use.”   Id.  

Accordingly, the EPA crafted this rule to exclusively address water transfers. 

 The EPA’s interpretation of “addition” adopting the unitary navigable waters theory 

appears only in the preamble of the rule, and was therefore not the result of a formal 

administrative proceeding.  (R. at 10).  Instead, the theory adopted by the EPA represents 

something much more analogous to a policy statement than an authoritative 

regulation.  Furthermore, this guidance was directed solely toward controlling water transfers.  

40 C.F.R. pt. 122.  As a result, the unitary waters theory interpretation should not be afforded 

Chevron deference.  Because the lower court erred in applying this standard, this Court should 

reverse the lower court's finding. 

2. Even if this Court were to apply the Chevron framework to the Water Transfers Rule, 

the regulation would be denied Chevron deference. 

 

If this Court finds the “addition” language of § 404 to be ambiguous, the Water Transfers 

Rule fails the Chevron framework because it results in an unreasonable construction of the 

CWA.  Chevron instructs this Court to defer to an agency’s interpretation only if it represents a 

reasonable construction of the statute and represents a reasonable policy choice by the 

agency.  Chevron, U.S.A., Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 845 (1984).  

However, applying the EPA’s “unitary navigable waters” interpretation to the COE’s permitting 

program yields an unreasonable construction of § 404.  Therefore, this interpretation would be 

denied deference under the Chevron framework. 

 Any reading of “addition” as covering only completely foreign materials is foreclosed 

because “pollutant” is defined by the CWA to specifically include “dredged spoil.”  United 
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States v. Cundiff, 555 F.3d 200, 213 (6th Cir. 2009).  The CWA explicitly forbids discharges of 

dredged and fill material except in compliance with § 404.  However, dredged material, by 

definition, comes from the waters of the United States.  33 C.F.R. § 323.2(c). To require that a 

discharge of dredged material must come from outside United States waters in order to qualify as 

an “addition” would effectively remove the dredge-and-fill provision from the statute. See Nat'l 

Min. Ass'n v. U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 145 F.3d 1399, 1405 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (citing 

Avoyelles, 715 F.2d at 924 n. 43).  This would render meaningless certain statutory terms, and 

every term in the statute must be ascribed meaning.  Roberts, 132 S.Ct. at 1362.     

The EPA must have been aware of these potential conflicts when it narrowly drafted the 

Water Transfers Rule to apply only to water transfers under the NPDES permit 

program.  Regardless, a unitary navigable waters interpretation of “addition” in § 404 represents 

an unreasonable policy choice and is thus refused deference by the Chevron framework.  The 

lower court erred in its application of the Chevron framework, and therefore this Court should 

overturn the lower court’s finding. 

3. Finally, the Water Transfers Rule should not be considered by this Court because 

Congress has delegated the authority of regulating § 404 to the COE, not the EPA. 

 

If this court finds ambiguity in the discharge language as it appears in § 404, the proper 

deference under the Chevron framework is due to the COE.  Although the administration of the 

CWA as a whole has been delegated to the EPA, Congress specifically charged the COE with 

administering § 404’s permitting program.  33 U.S.C. § 1344(a).  In other words, if the COE has 

authority to issue a permit for a discharge under § 404, then the EPA lacks authority to do the 

same.  Coeur Alaska, Inc. v. Southeast Alaska Conservation Council, 557 U.S. 261, 274 (2009). 

COE regulations hold land clearing activities on wetlands constitute a discharge of 

dredged and fill material and require a § 404 permit. 
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The Corps and EPA regard the use of mechanized earth-moving equipment to 

conduct land-clearing, ditching, channelization, in-stream mining or other earth-

moving activity in waters of the United States as resulting in a discharge of 

dredged material unless project-specific evidence shows that the activity results in 

only incidental fallback.   

 

33 C.F.R. § 323.2(d)(2)(i) (emphasis added).  In compliance with these COE regulations, courts 

have long ruled that the COE has the authority under the § 404 permitting program to regulate 

land-clearing activities on wetlands.  See Avoyalles, 715 F.2d at 924 (relying on COE regulations 

to determine whether land clearing activities constituted a discharge of fill material); see also 

Bay-Houston, 33 F.Supp.2d at 606–607 (1999) (citing COE regulations to determine wetland 

clearing and draining activities constitute a discharge regulate by CWA § 404).  Defendant has 

offered no evidence that his use of mechanized earth-moving equipment for land clearing only 

incidentally discharged pollutants.  As a result, if this Court looks for agency guidance in 

interpreting the § 404 permitting program it should defer to the COE’s prohibition of Bowman's 

land clearing activities without a permit.  Because the lower court erred in granting Chevron 

deference to an EPA regulation, this Court should overturn the lower court’s ruling. 

CONCLUSION 

 This Court should hold that NUWF has standing to bring its claims because NUWF has 

an interest in protecting the fish and wildlife of New Union, and its members have suffered an 

injury-in-fact caused by Bowman’s illegal dredging and filling. Bowman’s failure to take any 

remedial steps to address his CWA violations coupled with the ongoing consequences of his 

illegal activities also make the violations continuous. Further, NUDEP’s suit was not diligently 

prosecuted because it did not require, or was even capable, of bringing Bowman into compliance 

with the CWA, and thereby it does not bar NUWF’s suit. Lastly, Bowman’s activities did 

constitute an “addition” in the context of § 404 because he purposefully redeposited fill material, 
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the context of the term “addition” is significantly different in §§ 402 and 404, and because the 

EPA is not entitled to Chevron deference. For the foregoing reasons, NUWF respectfully 

requests that this Court reverse the District Court’s findings and grant summary judgment to 

NUWF. 

Respectfully submitted, 

__________________________________________ 

Counsel for New Union Wildlife Federation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 


